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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

CARLA DeANGELIS,
Plaintiff,

v No. 3:14-cv-01618 (JAM)

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT¢gt al .,
Defendants.

RULING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiff Carla DeAngelis worked for theit§ of Bridgeport as “telecommunicator” to
answer emergency phone calls. She has filedahisuit against the Gi and three of her
supervisors at the emergencyl canter alleging claims fatiscrimination and retaliation
relating to her gender and sexuadkatation. She alsdlages a wide range of other federal and
state law claims based on essentially the daets. Defendants havew moved for summary
judgment. For the reasons stated below, | will gdefendants’ motion as to most of plaintiff's
claims, but deny it with respect to her claioiggender discrimination, retaliation, and both
intentional and negligent inflion of emotional distress.

BACKGROUND

The following facts are either not disputedwhere disputed, are presented in the light
most favorable to plaintiff as the non-mogiparty. Between February 2012 and December
2013, Plaintiff worked for defendaiity of Bridgeport as a lecommunicator at the City’s
Public Safety and Communicatio@gnter (the “Center”). Plaintiff has filed this lawsuit against
the City as well as against intlual defendants including Dorkerice, who was director of the
Center, Anthony P. D’Onofrio, Jwho was plaintiff's supervispand Debra Deida, who was a

training officer at the Center.
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As part of her work, plaintiff was required amswer emergency calls and help respond to
them, such as by asking the caller for informatiod assisting in the dispatch of the City’s
emergency services. Plaintiff was an employbese peers and supervisors characterized her as
knowledgeable, positive, and easy to work wite, e.g., Doc. #49-7 at 6.

While all parties acknowledge that an egecy call center can be a stressful work
environment, plaintiff has adduced evidencengdeyond usual workplace stress. Plaintiff and
her coworkers attested that D’Onofrio was exegnaggressive towantomen subordinates in
the office, routinely yelling at them and gagiinto arguments with them, and then following
them around in the office or even outsidedntinue arguing. Doc. #49-4 at 40-42; Doc. #49-5
at 64—66; Doc. #49-6 at 21. And while D’Onofriowd be confrontationalerbally with male
employees, he would not physically pursue thleraugh the halls or outside as he did with
women. Doc. #49-5 at 64—-66.

Women were also treated differently by tlparvisors when it came to disciplinary rules
like dealing with mistakes made on calls a #nforcement of rules surrounding break times. A
woman making an error on a call would be yeli¢thy a supervisor repeatedly, while a man
would be relieved and allowed to take a Brd2oc. #49-5 at 60—62. Men would also be put on
less strenuous overtime shiftd. at 62. And men would be treatetbre leniently when it came
to break time; they would be allowed to ledrezjuently and be gonerftong stretches, while
women would be asked who gave them permis&iothe break and the exact times they began
and ended the breaks. at 68—69.

D’Onofrio, who maintained a sign-out systéon breaks in which employees signed up
for break time in advance on two separate sheets, used the system “to single women out,”

behaving volatilely toward women and not letting them go to the bathroom, but not bothering



men regarding the sign-out requirement. B&t9-4 at 52. D’Onofrio wasot the only defendant
whom female employees perceived as harasserg thith disciplinarywrite-ups; one coworker
claimed that she had experienced being harassBdd®/ to the point whershe didn’'t want to
come to work. Doc. #49-5 at 97.

In addition to this evidencebaut the working environment general, plaintiff points to
specific incidents that occurred between Naaad November 2013. In March of 2013, plaintiff
was on duty and received a call regardingadhtrauma. Doc. #49-4 at 16. D’Onofrio was
supervising at that time, but wast wearing his headset that allavam to listen to the calls as
they were coming ind. at 18. D’Onofrio believed plaintiff was mismanaging the call, and he
walked over to her and began interrupting her asking her why she was directing the call the
way she was. Plaintiff told him she could not tadkhim at that moment and continued handling
the call.ld. at 20. D’Onofrio yelled aplaintiff, but she ignored him to focus on the chill.at 24.

Two weeks after the call, D’Onofrio ordereaipitiff into the supervisor’s office. Doc.
#49-4 at 25. Apparently in refaree to plaintiff's tone wheshe responded to him during the
call, D’Onofrio said “the only time you should areswme like that is when | am grabbing you by
the neck and shaking youBiid. Plaintiff was shaken by the comment, and she felt physically

threatened by D’Onofridbid.!

! Plaintiff's affidavit also asserts that at thisiéi, D’Onofrio grabbed plaintiff's shoulders and started
shaking her. Doc. #49-3 at 1Palso states that this epunter took place on March 3. at 11. Plaintiff's
deposition states that this meeting took place on April 14, and plaintiff does not mention physical contact. Doc. #49-
4 at 25. While | am required to considee evidence in the light most favoralwb plaintiff, “factual issues created
solely by an affidavit crafted to oppose a sumnjatgment motion are not ‘genuine’ issues for tridddyes v. New
York City Dept. of Corrections, 84 F.3d 614, 619 (2d Cir. 1996). This includes evidence in an affidavit that “by
omission or addition, contradicts the affiant's previous deposition testimidong. It is implausible that plaintiff
would not have described this physical assault in her deposition for a lawsuit she initiated against D’Onoffrio,
particularly when she discussed the event during whictpfiagedly took place in detail. | therefore conclude that
this allegation of physical contactirconsistent with plaintiff's depositiomnd | do not credit it for purposes of
determining whether there is a genuine issue of material fact.
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Later in April, plaintiff came to believihat another employee, Tammy Cowette, had
made a mistake in how she had arranged thedstdheand asked Cowette to show plaintiff how
she had come up with the arrangement. Doc.3t4013. Cowette declined, and plaintiff said,
under her breath, “this is fucking ridiculousid.; Doc. #49-4 at 67. Cursing was frequent in
plaintiff's workplace. Doc#27-5 at 177. D’Onofrio approaché#ue two of them, and told
plaintiff “if you think you have ay right to look at this schedylgou’re ignorant.” Doc. #49-4 at
39. D’Onofrio’s manner was aggressive, andvas speaking loud enough for everyone else in
the call center to hear; Cowette told him to calm ddial

The next day, plaintiff wertb the cafeteria on a lunchdak after she had signed out on
one of the break sheets. Doc. #49-4 at 42—-43nbffl, who monitored @intiff's comings and
goings, followed her into the cafeteria and gotlese to plaintiff thashe thought he was going
to hit her. He yelled at plaintiff, and orddrker to go out and sign out on a second break sheet.
Ibid.; Doc. #49-3 at 15. Plaintiff left the cafeteand signed the sheet. #49-4 at 43. She then
submitted a grievance about the incident ths discussed the incidents described in the
previous two paragraphs. Doc. #27-5 at 26—2%. Jifievance described D’Onofrio as engaging
in “intimidation” and “professional bullying,and described his behavior as “personally
alarming” and “threateningrbid. Plaintiff was in a great deaf stress due to D’Onofrio’s
treatment, and she left work for severaysldue to abdominal pains. Doc. #49-3 at 15.

On the morning of July 26, plaintiff wasformed by her union steward that she was
supposed to be at a 10:00 A.M. hearing that sdawye plaintiff had not been scheduled to work
until 4:00 P.M., and she had not previously been informed about the hearing. Doc. #49-4 at 70—
71. Defendant Price was presentrat hearing; D’Onofrio an@owette were not. The hearing

was a disciplinary hearing regarg plaintiff's cursing durindher interaction with Cowette



regarding the work schedule. Doc. #49-3 atlléc. #27-5 at 75. Plaintiff admitted that she had
cursed, but said it was notréicted at Cowette. Doc. #27-588. Plaintiff also raised

D’Onofrio’s aggressive bek&r during the hearing twe, but she was rebuffeldl. at 95, 99.
Plaintiff was given a five-day suspension. D#49-4 at 75. Price hand-delivered the suspension
letter to plaintiff while she was atork, in view of her coworkersd. at 80. Afterward, Price
laughed at plaintiff and stayedareplaintiff for several hoursgering at and monitoring hdd.

at 91.

On July 31, plaintiff was notified that sisas being investigated for a claim made
against her by Pricéd. at 86—87. Price had falsely claimedttiafter delivering the suspension
letter to plaintiff, paintiff had tried to intimidate heDoc. #27-5 at 73; Doc. #49-4 at 89. The
investigation did not result in discipline against plaintiff. Doc. #49-4 at 90. Yet plaintiff felt
threatened by Price’s false complaint, and sesd days later, in el August, plaintiff met
with an investigator with the Connectidbommission on Human Rights and Opportunities
(CHRO) to report the treatment shad been subjected to at wolkid.

On September 16, D’Onofrio once again came into the break room and screamed at
plaintiff for not properly signingut. Doc. #49-4 at 49-50. D’Onodrihad been calling plaintiff
names and following her around for months, arsdalgigressive approach in the break room
made plaintiff “physically afraid.Td. at 55. Plaintiff told D’Onofrd that she had already signed
out, and when he continued to scream anfifishe told him to “back the fuck offI'bid.
D’Onofrio then told plaintiff “[h]ave it youway. We're going to do this the hard wald. at 58.
Plaintiff told D’Onofrio that she had “a stack @dcuments at city hall regarding your behavior
and harassment of me . . . Leave me alorigrogoing to go over your head and I'm going to

pursue getting you fired for harassing and chasing hdedt 56.



Later that day, plaintiff submitted additional grievance to her union regarding
D’Onofrio’s behaviorld. at 57; Doc. #27-5 at 209. In heigyrance, she said that the day’s
events were identical to complaints that she feamally discussed with the CHRO, and that she
had scheduled a hearing with the CHRO “to putbese matters and protect [herself] . . . from
intimidation, harassment and discrimination.”d&27-5 at 209. She did not mention her gender
or sexual orientatiom the grievancedd. at 209-10.

A few days later, plaintiff met with defendabeida. Plaintiff asked Deida to help get
D’Onofrio to leave plaintiff abne so she could feel safedado her job. Doc. #49-4 at 59-60.
Deida asked plaintiff for information aboDtOnofrio regarding s behavior, his job
performance, and the names of others whom he had harassedb4—65. Plaintiff answered
many of her questions but did rdisclose the names of othekigid. Shortly thereafter, Deida
wrote up a disciplinary warning fdaintiff regarding absences over the prior year. Doc. #49-9 at
94. Deida later asked again for similar infotioa, but plaintiff had ben advised by her union
representatives not to pass along any written contpleorDeida, and so plaintiff refrained from
doing so. Doc. #49-3 at 19. On October 8, Deidivered a memorandum to plaintiff stating
that because plaintiff had ngiven her the requested documeiotashe was closing the case.
Doc. #27-5 at 124.

On November 15, D’Onofrio and Deida called plaintiff in to the supervisor’s office.
Believing she was going to be dgined, plaintiff went to geher union representative, Rita
Marcus. Doc. #49-3 at 20. D’Onofrio wanted tedliss an incident thae claimed happened on
November 9; D’Onofrio had written up arcident descriptionlkeging that upon hearing
D’Onofrio and another employekscuss scheduling, plaintiffated “[t]his place is fucking

ridiculous,” similar to the statement in Apriladhshe had been disciplined for. Doc. #27-5 at 126.



Plaintiff maintains that the ®&/ember 9 incident never hapael. Doc. #49-4 at 93-94. At the
November 15 meeting, plaintiff ksd D’Onofrio for corroborating dails, such as the time, who
any witnesses were, and why he had not talidder when it had occurred. D’Onofrio could
supply no further detail¢d. at 95.

Plaintiff became upset and she asked Deidal@m]are we going to put an end to this?”
Id. at 100. Plaintiff referred to the accusation agaher as a “witch huntgdnd declared “I've
had enough of thisfd. at 101. She then said to D’Onaiyi‘l’'m going to get you. I'm going to
get you fired.”lbid. After the meeting, plaintiff returned her work station and continued to
work for several hours; she was instructed to warladditional four hours that evening, and to
come in the following day early to work extraunse before her regular shift. Doc. #49-3 at 20.
D’Onofrio was also scheduled to work the next day’s shoitl.

After going home that day, D’Onofrio went tioe Bridgeport Police Department and told
the police that he felt threatenly plaintiff. Doc. #27-4 at 183. Held an officer there that he
was afraid to go back to work because he was afraid plaintiff would hurt him. Doc. #49-6 at 64.
D’Onofrio said that he had communicated his $etarPrice, and she had told him to make a
police reportlbid. The police later spoke with Deida andcer who both also told them that
plaintiff made them fear for their safety at woldt. at 78.

Two Bridgeport police officers went to tisall center to speak with plaintififd. at 65—

66. An officer and Price came to plaintiff on iedl center floor, Doc. #48-at 114, and plaintiff
proceeded to go into a conference room, accoiagdry her union represetitee, to discuss the
incident with one of the officersbid. One of the officers told plaiiff that Price had insisted on
having her arrested, but thaethwere not going to do thad. at 116. The police issued a

summons to plaintiff for disorderly conduct. Dé@l9-6 at 84. One of the officers said he “had



to” issue the summons because Price “woultit’down . . . wouldn’t back down” on her
insistence that plaintiff shadibe arrested. Doc. #49-4Ht6-17. Plaintiff was put on paid
administrative leave and required to hand dwarbadge and locker key. Doc. #27-6 at 118.

Ten days later, plaintiff met with labor rétans officer Phil White for an investigative
interview. Doc. #49-9 at 38. Plaintiff and Whiescussed the events of November 15, and
plaintiff recounted her version of events aglae prior incidents oharassment by D’Onofrio.

Id. at 40-57. White referred to phdiff's description of past icidents as “wild allegations|d.

at 67. Plaintiff also reported what she sambk a “commonplace joke on the job, that . . .
D’Onofrio may come in armed some day ambot the building up I&the Navy Yard in
Washington.” Doc. #49-9 at 62—63. White noted thegt was a “very serious allegation,” and he
asked plaintiff to provide names of otherso had said that. Plaintiff declindd. at 63.

White also interviewed Marcus, plaintiffismion representativeyho referred to the
police visit as “intimidat[ion]” of plaintiff. Doc#27-5 at 169. Marcus alstated that cursing
happened frequently in the office—with “evarther word” being a curse word at times—and
opined that it was “harassment” to go after plaintdf.at 177. Marcus corroborated that plaintiff
threatened D’Onofrio with lediaction, not with bodily harmd. at 170-71.

On December 16, White held another hearing with plaintiff and informed her that she
was being charged with insubamndtion for her failure to provide the names of others who had
repeated the “commonplace joke” regarding D’Qmdé$ potential for violence. Doc. #49-9 at
25. At the hearing, plaintiff gave two names, ahd said that she had been hesitant to give
names at the prior hearing because shadlidvant to speak on behalf of othdib.at 26—-27.

On December 19, Price called plaintiff and tb&t to return to work; she also sent her a

letter to the same effect. Da#27-6 at 20. In response, plafhtalled Deida and said that she



would not return to work unlegsur conditions were met: (1) thall charges be dropped against
her, (2) that the matter was expunged from hes@wel record, (3) that her legal expenses for
her criminal defense attorney were reingad, and (4) that her safety was guaranteket 22.
White then sent plaintiff a teer advising her “to report backamediately,” acknowledging her
stated conditions but urging H#o reconsider [her] action[d. at 25. The letter stated that
failure to return to work would be a violation leér contract and resuft “appropriate action, up
to and including termination of employmenitsid. Plaintiff did not return to work, and White
sent her another letten December 26 stating that her unauthorized absence had been
considered a resignation from employment.

Plaintiff filed a union grievance againsetleity, Doc. #27-6 at 139, and she notified
defendants of her intent to commence a legab@etgainst them. Do&49-9 at 100. After the
CHRO and federal Equal Employment Oppoityyuommission (EEOC) released her claims
from their jurisdiction, she began this actiorfederal court. Doc. #1. Defendants now move for
summary judgment on all glaintiff's claims.

DiscussioN

The principles governing a motion for suray judgment are well established. Summary
judgment may be granted only if “the movant skdhat there is no genuine dispute as to any
material fact and the movantestitled to a judgment as a mattd law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a);
see also Tolan v. Cotton, 134 S. Ct. 1861, 1866 (2014)( curiam). “A genuine dispute of
material fact exists for summary judgment purpaskere the evidence, viewed in the light most
favorable to the nonmoving party, is such thegasonable jury could decide in that party's
favor.” Zann Kwan v. Andalex Grp. LLC, 737 F.3d 834, 843 (2d Cir. 2013). The evidence

adduced at the summary judgment stage musieveed in the light most favorable to the non-



moving party and with all ambiguities and reaeole inferences drawn against the moving party.
See, eg., Tolan, 134 S. Ct. at 186&aronia v. Philip MorrisUSA, Inc., 715 F.3d 417, 427 (2d

Cir. 2013). All in all, “a ‘judge’s function’ asummary judgment is not ‘to weigh the evidence
and determine the truth of the matter but to deterwhether there is a genuine issue for trial.”
Tolan, 134 S. Ct. at 1866 (quotirinderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986)).
Bearing these standards in mind, | will now dssdefendants’ motion with respect to each of
the counts in plaintiff's complaint.

Gender Discrimination

Counts One and Three of the complaint allgg the City of Bridgeport discriminated
against plaintiff on the basis of her gender ilation of Title VII ofthe Civil Rights Act of
1964 (Title VII) and in violatiorof the Connecticut Fair Employant Practices Act (CFEPA). In
particular, plaintiff alleges that defendants violated these statutes by creating a hostile work
environmeng

The Supreme Court has held that Title VIVislated by a “discriminatorily hostile or
abusive [work] environment”—that is, a “workplace . . . permeated with discriminatory
intimidation, ridicule, and insult . . . that is seféntly severe or pervagwo alter the conditions
of the victim's employment and crean abusive working environmenidarrisv. Forklift Sys.,
Inc., 510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993). The test is the same under CFERMartin v. Town of Westport,

558 F. Supp. 2d 228, 242-43 (D. Conn. 2008).

2 While plaintiff's complaint alleges discrimination based on sexual orientation, she appears to abandon this
claim in her brief in opposition to summary judgment. Doc. #49 aK8@co v. Rockbestos-Surprenant Cable
Corporation, 834 F.3d 128, 143 (2d Cir. 2016) (“a court may, when appropriate, infer from a party’s partial
opposition that relevant claims or defenses that ardefended have been abandoned.”). Defendants’ motion is
therefore granted with respeotplaintiff's claims in counts One throudfour with respect to plaintiff's sexual
orientation.
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To prevail on a gender-based hostile workengironment claim, a pintiff must make a
showing “that the complained of conduct: (1) igeatively severe or peasive—that is, creates
an environment that a reasonable person would find hostile or abusive; (2) creates an
environment that the plaintiff sudgjtively perceives as hostile dusive; and (3) creates such an
environment because of the plaintiff's seRatane v. Clark, 508 F.3d 106, 113 (2d Cir. 2007).
Relevant factors include “thedquency of the discriminatoryprduct; its severity; whether it is
physically threatening or humiliating, or a meféensive utterance; and whether it unreasonably
interferes with an empl@ge’s work performance.Desardouin v. City of Rochester, 708 F.3d
102, 105 (2d Cir. 2013) (quotirtdarris, 510 U.S. at 23). As with all gender discrimination
claims under Title VII, “[t]he critical issue . is whether members of one sex are exposed to
disadvantageous terms or comatits of employment to which miers of the other sex are not
exposed.'Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs,, Inc., 523 U.S. 75, 80 (1998).

Plaintiff has certainly adduced evidenceadfostile working environment—she has
described her workplace as one in which supers screamed at and physically intimidated
employees, regularly violated protocols whiteticulously enforeig them against their
subordinates, and threatened employees or atthism of insubordination if they questioned a
supervisor’'s actionsee, e.g., Doc. #49-4 at 41, 54-55; Doc. #49-5 at 50-60, 98—101. The sum
total of this behavior paints agbiire that a reasonable jury cofilitd to be an environment that a
reasonable person would find hostileabusive. The fact thatghtiff filed grievances and
complained about these acts is also additiemlence for a reasonable factfinder to conclude
that plaintiff subjectively perceed the environment as hostileabusive, as is plaintiff's

deposition testimony itself.
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Defendants argue that plaintiff has not submitted evidence that she subjectively believed
she was subject to the hostile work environntetause of her gender. This argument appears to
conflate two elements of a hostile work envir@mhclaim: that there be “an environment that
the plaintiff subjectivelyperceives as hostile or abusivesidahat such an environment exist
“because of the plaintiff's sexPatane, 508 F.3d at 113. The subjective perception requirement
does not itself contain a requiremdmat a plaintiff perceive the htgy at work to be because
of her gender. Instead, the sulbpee perception requirement arises part of the need to show
that the complained-of conduct taally altered theanditions of the victim’s employment.”
Harris, 510 U.S. at 21-22. In other words, the isgaent concerns whether the plaintiff
suffered a statutorily cognizable injury to beuwiith, not whether the causd that injury was
discrimination. To import causation into Title N8l subjective perception element would be to
double-count the causation requirement and unnedgdsanden plaintiffsin Title VII actions.

Plaintiff's evidence is thinner as to whethie hostile environménvas created because
of her gender. Plaintiff has not submittedy@omments by defendants or other supervisors
indicating a gender-based discrintioigy intent. And none of the aotis plaintiff describes are as
overtly gender-based as manytioé incidents that frequentlyrim the basis for hostile work
environment claimsSee, e.g., Alfano v. Costello, 294 F.3d 365, 379-80 (2d Cir. 2002) (listing
incidents from many cases, including toughof and commenting about body parts, sexual
jokes, and discussion of sexual experiences outside of work).

But plaintiff has submitted evidence thag thostile actions she describes were done
either primarily to or only to women. She has submitted her own testimony, as well as the
testimony of three other female employees, desagibeveral recurring acts that could plausibly

cause a jury to infer that the hostile enniment plaintiff experienced was due to sexism:
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D’Onofrio insulted women, mocked them, screaraethem, and made them feel physically
threatened, but never did so to men, Doc. #48-40-55; D’Onofrio would argue with both men
and women but would not stand down in argats with women, following them around the
building and outside on their breaks and contigub argue with them, Doc. #49-5 at 65-66;
women would be screamed at if they didhething wrong on a call, whereas men would be
given the opportunity to take a bread, at 61; men would be allowldo take breaks more often,
and not questioned as rigorously as women alwbether they had permission for their breaks,
id. at 69, Doc. #49-4 at 52.

Bearing in mind my obligation to view theidence in the light most favorable to the
plaintiff, | conclude that she has adequately destrated a genuine issue of material fact as to
the causation element of her hostilerk environment claim. “[|cially sex-neutral incidents”
may be considered among the lityeof the circumstances forlaostile work environment claim
“so long as a reasonable fastefer could conclude that theyere, in fact, based on seXaytor
v. Electric Boat Corp., 609 F.3d 537, 547-48 (2d Cir. 2010). Because such an inquiry “often

requires an assessment of indiatil motivations and state of nd,” “the court should not view
the record in piecemeal fashion,” and “summary judgment should be used spalthgity348.
The testimony of several employdbat the City’s supervisors baved in a verbally abusive,

hostile manner toward women and not toward wmrd allow a reasonable jury to conclude

3 Plaintiff has also submitted other statements regarding defendants’ treatment of women that are
inadmissible hearsagee, e.g., Doc. #49-5 at 97 (deposition testimony thajther female employees have told me
that they felt they were being haraedsand they were getting written up after they had disagreements with Dorie
Price.”). Here and elsewheirethis ruling | have considered only evidence that would be admissible aSteal.
e.g., Doeexrel. Doev. Darian Bd. of Educ., 110 F. Supp. 3d 386, 395 (D. Conn. 2015) (“[a] party cannot rely on
inadmissible hearsay in opposing a motion for summary judgment ... absent a showing that admissible evidence will
be available at trial.”) (internal quotation marks ded). | have not relied on any statements identified in
defendants’ motion to strike plaintiff's disputed issue of material fact paragraphs#94), with the exception of
portions of the Givens deposition, Doc. #49-5 at 55-62, 65—-66. Defendants have not incluaigdiment as to
why these portions of the deposition are inadmissible. #@tat 6. Defendants’ motion to strike will therefore be
denied as moot.
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that plaintiff was exposed to the hostile werkvironment she describes because of her gender.
Therefore, | will deny defendants’ motion fomsmary judgment with respect to plaintiff's
gender discrimination claims under Title VII and CFEPA.

Retaliation Against Protected Activity

Counts Two and Four of the complaint furtdlege that the Cityetaliated against
plaintiff because of her complaints about haras#nand discriminatory conduct in violation of
Title VIl and CFEPA. Under Title VII, an employer may not retaliate or discriminate against an
employee because she has opposed any unlawful practice prohibited by Title VII. The usual
McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting test applies. Firglaintiff must show‘(1) that she
participated in an activity pretted by Title VII, (2) that hreparticipation was known to her
employer, (3) that her employer thereafter satgd her to a materially adverse employment
action, and (4) that there was a causal connebgbmneen the protectedtaaty and the adverse
employment action.Kaytor, 609 F.3d at 552. If plaintiff égblishes “a minimal amount of
evidence” to support thesdements, then defendants must proffer a legitimate non-retaliatory
reason for their adverse employmantion, and then plaintiff mustrry the ultimate burden to
show a genuine fact issoéretaliatory motivation.ld. at 552—-53. The analysis of a retaliation
claim under CFEPA is identicdd. at 556.

Defendants argue that plaintiff’s complaint to management about discrimination did not
gualify as activity protected by Title VII becsaishe did not make it clear that she was
complaining about conduct prohibited by Ti¥Mfd. Doc. #39 at 92. Informal complaints,
including complaints to management, can duals protected activity under Title Vigee, e.g.,
Sumner v. U.S Postal Serv., 899 F.2d 203, 209 (2d Cir. 1990). But the complaints must be

enough to ensure that the employer “understoodould reasonably have understood, that the
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plaintiff's opposition was directed abnduct prohibited by Title VII.Kelly v. Howard I.
Shapiro & Assoc. Consulting Engineers, P.C., 716 F.3d 10, 15 (2d Cir. 2013). In other words,
“generalized” compliats are not enouglRojas v. Roman Catholic Diocese of Rochester, 660
F.3d 98, 108 (2d Cir. 2011jpér curiam).

Plaintiff's grievance of September 2013spied that she was complaining about
“harassment and discrimination” in her inquiry with the CHRO. Doc. #68 at 12. Such
“buzzwords” are indicative of amnderlying belief that one’s claim has to do with some sort of
protected class, su@s plaintiff's genderSee Chen-Oster v. Goldman, Sachs & Co., 293 F.R.D.
557, 563 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (noting that an infezerf gender discrimination can be made from
the use of “key words such as ‘discriminationgender.”) (emphasis added). Additionally,
plaintiff informed her supervisors in that gréace that she had scheduled a meeting with the
CHRO, Connecticut’s analoguettoe EEOC that is involved witinvestigating claims of gender
discrimination. Doc. #27-5 at 209. And when pldfrttiet with the Labor Relations Officer, in
describing her complaints about D’Onofrio anit®rshe stated th&his has happened to
women like me with a similgsrofile, before | was emplogethere.” Doc. #49-9 at 62.

The combined import of these statements—shatwas being discriminated against, that
she was pursuing action with the CHRO, and thatactions she was complaining about had
“happened to women like me"—are enough thatasonable jury atd conclude that
defendants “understood, or coulédsenably have understood,” that plaintiff's complaints were
“directed at conduct prohibited by Title VIIKelly, 716 F.3d at 15.

Plaintiff has also submitted evidence ttie action was causally connected to her
protected activity. The eventsgaipitating her suspension from kdoegan at the November 15

meeting regarding plaintiff's algged cursing in front of D’Onofo on November 9. Plaintiff has
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submitted evidence that cursing in her officeswampant, Doc. #27-5 at 177, and a reasonable
jury could conclude that the disciplinary actioniated against plaintiff was a pretext motivated
by plaintiff's complaint.

The evidence regarding what happenethat meeting—namely, whether plaintiff
threatened D’Onofrio physically avhether she merely threateriedal action—is essentially a
matter of conflicting testimony. Doc. #49-41411; Doc. #27-4 at 182; Doc. #27-5 at 170-71.
Viewed in the light most favorabte the plaintiff, the evidence is that plaintiff merely threatened
to try to have D’Onofrio firedand that D’Onofrio consequentiganufactured his story to the
police about plaintiff giving hinneason to fear physical harithe proximity in time between
D’Onofrio allegedly making up thitale and plaintiff's complaiis against him could lead a
reasonable jury to conclude that D’Onofrio wemthe police because of plaintiff's complaifits.

If a jury were to find that the discipkmy hearing in November and subsequent
manufacture of the story in wdh plaintiff threatened physical harm to D’Onofrio were
motivated by retaliatory animus, it would alsaigabe possible to conclude that plaintiff
suffered an adverse employment action becafifeese events. While “administrative leave
with pay during the pendency ah investigation does not, withomiore, constitute an adverse
employment action,Joseph v. Leavitt, 465 F.3d 87, 91 (2d Cir. 200®)Jaintiff's supervisors
allegedly manufactured a false police statenmf@muldn’t back down” from their insistence that
the police should arrest plaintiff, Doc. #49-4 a6417, and then used thatest as an excuse to

put plaintiff on administrativéeave and investigate her.

4 Because plaintiff's testimony andetlbestimony of her union representatiRita Marcus, is sufficient for
me to consider this incident in a way®aable to plaintiff, it is unnecessaryr fime to reach plaintiff's request that |
make an adverse inference against defendants for their alleged mishandling of the videotape #ntimay have
depicted this incidenfee Doc. #49 at 37.
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The relevant standard is whether defendaatttons would have tdsuaded a reasonable
worker from making or supportirggcharge of discriminationBurlington Northern and Santa
Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53, 57 (2006). A reasonableyjoould find that defendant’s
actions here passed that test. Accordingly, | thiirefore deny defendants’ motion for summary
judgment with respect to plaintiff's retation claims under Title VIl and CFEPA.

First Amendment Retaliation

Count Five of the complaint alleges a cldon First Amendment retaliation pursuant to
42 U.S.C. 8 1983. In order to prove a clainrethliation for engaging in constitutionally
protected speech, a government employee must Ehiavat she has engaged in speech of the
type that is subject tprotection in the government employmeontext; (2) that her government
employer took adverse action againer; and (3) that there was a causal connection between the
protected speech or association and the adverse dgdourne v. City of Middletown, 2017
WL 1138125, at *4 (D. Conn. 2017) (citiddatthews v. City of New York, 779 F.3d 167, 172
(2d Cir. 2015)).

In the government employment contexg first Amendment pretts speech uttered by
an employee in his or her capacity asteen regarding a matter of public conce®ee Lane .
Franks, 134 S.Ct. 2369, 2378 (2014)ynch v. Ackley, 811 F.3d 569, 577-78 (2d Cir. 2016). The
Second Circuit has “rejected a categorical apgihahat places all speech aimed at redressing
personal grievances in the employment eghbeyond the scope of the First Amendmetith
v. Haslun, 598 F.3d 70, 74 (2d Cir. 2010). Insteaa thlevant question is whether the
employee’s speech relates as well to broasierds or is solely about the employee’s own

grievance. If, however, a public employee’s spasdovlely about her own personal concerns,
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then this does not suffice to justifyckim for First Amendment retaliatioBeeid. at 74-75;
Sousa v. Roque, 578 F.3d 164, 174 (2d Cir. 2009).

Here, plaintiff's grievances focused orr losvn dissatisfaction with her employment
context. While plaintiff occasionally invokleexamples of other women facing similar
mistreatment, she repeatedly disclaimed amtirittemake her case aliathers, specifically
telling Price “I'm not here to be like a whisttdower. This is about me,” and saying “I just
wanted my situation mediated, | wanted it topsand | wanted to do my job and move on.” Doc.
#49-4. at 65. Plaintiff has not paded to any comments in tihecord to bolster her First
Amendment claim. Doc. #49 at 65-67. In the fackesfdisclaimers, and absent evidence to the
contrary, | conclude that defdants’ motion for summary judgmieshould be granted as to
plaintiff’'s First Amendment retaliation claim.

Procedural Due Process

Count Six of the complaint alleges a cldion a violation of the Due Process Clause
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Plaintiff alletjest defendants Price, D’Onofrio, and Deida
violated her procedural due pess rights by tarnishirtier reputation when #y reported her to
the police and withheld exculmay evidence. Doc. #1 at 20.

A plaintiff has a cause of action for loss dfteerty interest in her reputation if she is
deprived of such reputation without due prxef law. This type of claim is known as a
“stigma-plus” due process claimlonserrate v. New York Sate Senate, 599 F.3d 148, 158 (2d
Cir. 2010). To prevail on such a claim, a pld@fmhust generally provéhat the defendant has
uttered a false statement that is injurious torbputation (“stigma”) and that this false statement
has resulted in some tangible and material butdeplaintiff beyond thetigmatizing statement

itself (“plus”). Seeibid.
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Even if these two elements are met, howgtbe availabilityof adequate process
defeats a stigma-plus clainfegal v. City of New York, 459 F.3d 207, 213 (2d Cir. 2006). That
is because, “[lJike any procedural due proceaswgla stigma-plus claim enforces a limited but
important right, the right to be heard ‘at @aningful time and in a meaningful mannetbid.
(quotingGoldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254, 267 (1970)h Segal, the Second Circuit held that, for
an at-will government employe&he availability of an agéquate, reasonably prompt, post-
termination name-clearing hearing is sti#nt to defeat a stigma-plus clainhd: at 214.

Plaintiff does not appear to be an at-will eayge, but rather one subject to a collective-
bargaining agreement. Nonetheless, thegss available to her also appears to be
correspondingly greater. Plaintdbes not dispute that, had she returned to work, she would have
been given the opportunity for all of the pealures afforded by her collective bargaining
agreement such as grievances or the abilipptdest any disciplinargharges that had been
brought against her. Doc. #39 at 116-17; Doc.&43. Nor does plaintiff provide evidence that
these procedures would haveel inadequate. Plaintiff merely cites case law stating that
procedures afforded under a collective bargajrsigreement may not be enough. Doc. #49 at 69.

“[T]he failure of the plaintiff to make @sof an adequate post-deprivation remedy such
as a grievance hearing . . . will defeat a procedural due process claim on the merits, even if the
post-deprivation remedy is no longerailable at the time of suitHefferan v. Corda, 498 Fed.
App’x 86, 88 (2d Cir. 2012) (citin§egal, 459 F.3d at 218 n.10). The evidence in the record is
that plaintiff was provided an opportunity tdaum to work, and plaintiff does not dispute
defendants’ assertion that dgiso would have afforded her a procedural remedy. Nor does

plaintiff adduce evidence that such a remedyldde inadequate. | ¢inefore conclude that
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plaintiff has failed to demonstrasegenuine issue of maial fact as to her stigma-plus claim,
and defendants’ motion for summary judgment will be granted on this claim.

Substantive Due Process

Count Seven of the complaint alleges thdeddants violated her due process rights by
withholding exculpatory evidence @mising the judicial process tetaliate against plaintiff.
Doc. #1 at 21. Plaintiff has deferdthis claim only with a single pagraph that consists entirely
of a quotation regarding the standards for substantive due proce§s]h@yprotections of
substantive due process have for the mosthesamh accorded to matters relating to marriage,
family, procreation, and thight to bodily integrity.”Albright v. Oliver, 510 U.S. 266, 272
(1994) (plurality opinion). Claims such as abud process “are typittg analyzed under the
rubric of procedural, naubstantive, due proces&énnedy-Bifulco v. Town of Huntington,
2010 WL 6052343, at *14 (B.N.Y. 2010) (citingCook v. Sheldon, 41 F.3d 73, 80 (2d Cir.
1994)). Substantive due process does not aplply where government action is merely
“incorrect or ill-advised.Thid. (quotingKaluczky v. City of White Plains, 57 F.3d 202, 211 (2d
Cir. 1995)). Plaintiff has mad®o procedural due process amgnt regarding the abuse of
process claim in her complaint, and substardive process protectiods not seem to apply. |
will therefore grant defendants’ motion to dismiss the substantive due process claim.

Conspiracy

Counts Eight and Nine of the complaint allegeivil rights conspacy pursuant to 42
U.S.C. § 1985 and also a st&e claim for civil conspiracy. These claims are barred by the
intra-corporate conspiracy doicte, under which “officers, agents and employees of a single
corporate entity are legally incapable of conspiring togetiartline v. Gallo, 546 F.3d 95, 99

n.3 (2d Cir. 2008)see also Herrmann v. Moore, 576 F.2d 453, 459 (2d Cir. 1978)arp v. King,
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266 Conn. 747, 777-86 (2003). All defendants are emplafebe City of Bridgeport and were
acting within the scope of their employment.

Plaintiff argues that this &m is not barred by the doctrine because an exception exists
where the individuals within aalleged conspiracy have “pufed] personal interests wholly
separate and apart from the entitfardd v. Brookhaven Nat. Laboratory, 407 F. Supp. 2d 404,
414 (E.D.N.Y. 2006). Plaintiff citeRoniger v. McCall, 72 F. Supp. 2d 433, 438 (S.D.N.Y.
1999), and argues that “[k]Jeeping one’s job anceappg in a favorabledht are recognized as
personal interests.” Doc. #49 at 75. BuRasiger notes, “[tjo some degree or another . . . all
individuals have a financial staketime positions they occupy . .It is for this reason, perhaps,
that courts have at times held that an engdomust have been motiedt‘'solely’ by personal
bias or exclusively personalterests in order for the persoinaterest exception to apply.”
Roniger, 72 F. Supp. 2d at 440 (erhal citation omitted).

Even when the evidence is regarded in thlktimost favorable to plaintiff, defendants’
actions do not appear to have been motivatedxclusively personal interests. Instead,
defendants’ actions all occurradthin the scope of their empyment—plaintiff's complaint is
primarily about the means by which defendati¢giplined and invegjated her in her
workplace. A supervisor’s duties include enfogcworkplace rules and meeting with those
accused of violating them; if those meetings ltaaubehavior the supervisor deems threatening,
it is also within the bounds of a supervisor's daiti@ report the employee tatside authorities.
Plaintiff has provided no evidea of exclusive andeparate personal interests underlying any
defendants’ actions. Accordinglin the absence of suchidence, defendants’ motion for
summary judgment will be granted on the conspiracy claims.

Abuse of Process
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Plaintiff next alleges a claim for “abusebcess” against the individual defendants.
“An action for abuse of processs against any person using gdéprocess against another in
an improper manner or to accomplish a purpose for which it was not desilylozdothi v.

Beck, 204 Conn. 490, 494 (1987). But plaintiff has adtuced evidence about how defendants
used any legal process against her, let alone in an improper manner.

Plaintiff has adduced evidence of a falseestant to the police btiis is not enough to
sustain an abuse-of-process claim. While a fstisgement to the police to encourage prosecution
may form the basis for a malicious prosecutionoagtabuse of process is a tort that lies for
actions farther down the procedural road. “Tsinction between ntigious prosecution or
vexatious suit and abuse of process as tort adsahst in the former the wrongful act is the
commencement of an action withdegal justification, ad in the latter it isn the subsequent
proceedings, not in the issuemybcess but in its abuse&)SP, Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 256
Conn. 343, 360-61 n.16 (2001). The case plaintiff ¢aethe proposition that “a private person
cannot escape liability if he knamgly presents information that false,” involved a malicious
prosecution action, not abuse-of-process actioBee Crocco v. Advance Sores Co., 421 F.

Supp. 2d 485, 507 (D. Conn. 2006). Accordingly, because plaintiff has not adduced evidence of
defendants’ improper use of legal processrajdier, | will grant defendants’ motion for
summary judgment on plaintiff’abuse-of-process claim.

Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress and I ntentional Infliction of Emotional
Distress

Counts Eleven and Twelve of the comptafiege that thendividual defendants
committed the torts of negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress. A claim for
negligent infliction of emotionalistress requires a showingtl(1) the defendant’s conduct

created an unreasonable risk of causing the glagmiiotional distress; (2) the plaintiff's distress
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was foreseeable; (3) the emotional distresssgasre enough that it migkgsult in illness or
bodily harm; and (4) the defendant’s conducs wee cause of the plaintiff's distresSdrrol v.
Allstate Ins. Co., 262 Conn. 433, 444 (2003). Under Connectiawt, “negligent infliction of
emotional distress in the employment cohtxses only when it is based upon unreasonable
conduct of the defendant ithe termination processParsonsv. United Technologies Corp., 243
Conn. 66, 88 (1997). Here, however, plaintiff's slasoncerns conduct involving a report to the
police that is outside the workplace context.

This Court has allowed claims for negligent infliction of emotional distress to survive
when there are false allegations about apleyee’s performance or lies to customé&ee
Grossman v. Computer Curriculum Corp., 131 F. Supp. 2d 299, 309 (D. Conn. 200@mby v.
Cmty. Renewal Team, Inc., 2010 WL 5174404, at *5 (D. Conn. 2010) (“[F]alsely accusing a
plaintiff of misconduct or publizing false reasons for a plaintiff's termination to other
employees may be sufficiently warsonable conduct to support aircl of negligent infliction of
emotional distress.”). Here, plaintiff has adduced evidencel#iahdants lied regarding her
physically threatening them and posing a damgéer coworkers. Aeasonable jury could
conclude that a person falsely accused by her cas®f disorderly conduct sufficient to result
in criminal charges could foreseeably sufferese emotional distress as a result of the
accusation, especially when theasation was made by coworkevBo have an alleged history
of verbally abusing the target the false accusaii. | will therefore deny defendants’ motion for
summary judgment on plaintiff’claim for negligent inflicon of emotional distress.

As for plaintiff's claim for intentional inflictbn of emotional distress, she is required to
prove four elements: “(1) that the actor intenttedhflict emotional distess or that he knew or

should have known that emotional distress thadikely result of hizonduct; (2) that the
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conduct was extreme or outrageous; (3) thadéfendant’s conduct was the cause of the
plaintiff's distress; and (4) that the emotiodatress sustained by tp&intiff was severe.”
Appleton v. Board of Educ. of Town of Stonington, 254 Conn. 205, 210 (2000). A reasonable jury
could find plaintiff has demonstrated the firtstird, and fourth elements for the reasons
discussed above.

In Crocco v. Advance Stores Co. Inc., the plaintiff was an employee who accused her
employer of falsely stating toeipolice that she was a thre&ge 421 F. Supp. 2d at 492-93.
The court held that “reasonable minds califéer on the question of whether . . . knowingly
reporting false information to [the police] ae to give the impression that [plaintiff] was
stalking or threatening them would ctihge extreme and outrageous conduld."at 505.
Likewise, | conclude that—whileeasonable minds could differ—the evidence adduced in this
case, in which plaintiff has described a pattermtE#nse harassment culminating in a false report
to the police, is one in which a reasonablg gould conclude that defendants’ conduct was
extreme or outrageous. Accordingly, | will desigfendants’ motion fasummary judgment on
plaintiff's claim of intentionalinfliction of emotional distress.

I ndemnification

Count Thirteen alleges a claim for indencation from the City to the individual
defendants for any sums for which the undual defendants may become liable to [2eg.

Conn. Gen. Stat. 8 7-465. | will grant dediants’ motion for summary judgment on
indemnification only as to the counts againslividual defendants that | have dismissed
pursuant to this ruling.

Data Disclosure
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Count Fourteen alleges thaetlity violated provisions aConnecticut’s personal data
protection laws, Conn. Gen. Stat. § 4-E96eg. Plaintiff appears to beeferencing defendants’
alleged withholding of videotape footage from theiddent of November 15 incident. It is not
immediately clear that sucbdtage would qualify for protecticas personal data under 8§ 4-
190(9). In any event, however, plaintiff has defended this count imer briefing, and so |
conclude that it has been abandoried.Kovaco 834 F.3d at 143 (“a court may, when
appropriate, infer from a party’s partial oppositioattielevant claims atefenses that are not
defended have been abandoned.”). Accordirighll grant defendants’ motion for summary
judgment as to Count Fourteen.

CONCLUSION

Defendants’ amended motion for summarggment (Doc. #39) is GRANTED in part
and DENIED in part. The motion is GRANTED &sCounts One through Four (Title VII and
CFEPA discrimination and retafian) insofar as these counts may be based on a claim of
discrimination or retaliation on the groundssefual orientation. The motion is otherwise
DENIED as to Counts One through Four ins@fa these counts are based on a claim of
discrimination or retaliation based on gendere fitotion is GRANTED a® Count Five (First
Amendment retaliation), Count Six (procedutak process), Count Seven (substantive due
process), Count Eight (civil rightconspiracy), Couriine (civil conspiracy), and Count Ten
(abuse of process). The motion is DENIED a€dnint Eleven (negligent infliction of emotional
distress) and Count Twelvanfentional infliction of emtional distress). The motion is
GRANTED as to Count Thirteen (indemnificatiomith respect to any ber dismissed count and

DENIED with respect to any couagainst an individual defendathiat has not been dismissed.
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The motion is GRANTED as to Count Fourteeatéddisclosure). Defendants’ motion to strike
plaintiff’'s improper disputed is&$ of material fact paragrap{i3oc. #54) is DENIED as moot.
It is so ordered.
Dated at New Haven, Connectictitis 5th day of September 2017.
s/ Jeffrey Alker Meyer

Jeffrey Alker Meyer
United States District Judge

26



